### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIE PERRY,	)
Petitioner,	) )
VS.	) )
STATE OF FLORIDA,	) )
Respondent.	)

CASE NO.: SC03-1291 Lower Tribunal No.: 4D01-2049

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

)

CAREY HAUGHWOUT Public Defender Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

David John McPherrin Assistant Public Defender Criminal Justice Building 421 Third Street/6th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600 Florida Bar No.: 0861782

Attorney for Petitioner

####

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the Circuit Court of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit and the appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Respondent was the prosecution and appellee in the lower courts. In this brief the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court.

The symbol "R" will denote the one-volume record on appeal, which includes relevant documents filed below.

The symbol "SR" will denote the one-volume supplemental record on appeal, which includes additional relevant documents filed below.

The symbol "ST" will denote the four-volume supplemental transcript, which is a transcript of the trial.

The symbol "H" will denote the motion to suppress hearing held on August 11, 2000.

The symbol "S" will denote the sentencing hearing held on May 18, 2001.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was charged by information with battery on a law enforcement officer,<sup>1</sup> possession of cocaine,<sup>2</sup> and resisting an officer with violence.<sup>3</sup> *SR* 47-48. The information alleged that petitioner unlawfully, knowingly, and willfully obstructed or opposed Deputies Enrique and Anton,

in the lawful execution of a legal duty then being performed by the said officers, to wit: the detention of [petitioner], by the said [petitioner] offering or doing violence to the person of the said officers, to wit: fighting with and striking [them]....

SR 47.

Prior to trial, petitioner successfully sought suppression of the cocaine on the ground that it was obtained during an unlawful search and seizure. *R* 24-28, 32; *H* 36-37. Petitioner subsequently proceeded to trial before a jury on the battery and resisting charges.

<sup>2</sup> § 893.13(6)(a), *Fla. Stat.* (1997).

<sup>3</sup> § 843.01, *Fla. Stat.* (1997). Section 843.01 reads in relevant part:

Whoever knowingly and willfully resists, obstructs, or opposes any officer ... in the lawful execution of any legal duty, by offering or doing violence to the person of such officer ... is guilty of a felony of the third degree ....

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> §§ 784.03 & 784.07, Fla. Stat. (1997).

Evidence introduced during trial established that petitioner, in the course of being booked into the Broward County jail after arrest, struck two detention deputies while they attempted to perform a strip search upon him. At the conclusion of respondent's case, and again after he rested without presenting evidence, petitioner unsuccessfully moved for a judgment of acquittal arguing that the attempted strip search was not performed in compliance with Florida law and, as a result, the deputies were not *lawfully* executing a legal duty, an essential element of resisting an officer with violence, when he struck them. ST 197-203, 208-209.<sup>4</sup> Petitioner's request to incorporate the statute addressing strip searches into the jury charge was denied and, over his objection that it directed a verdict against him on an essential element of the offense charged, the trial court instructed the jury "that the detention of a defendant constitutes lawful execution of a legal duty." ST 210-211, 214-215, 248, 257. Petitioner was acquitted of the battery, but convicted of resisting an officer with violence. SR 57-58; ST 271-272. The trial court sentenced petitioner to 10 years in prison as a habitual felony offender with a 5 year minimum mandatory as a prison

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> According to petitioner, the deputies were required to obtain written authorization from the supervisor on duty before performing the strip search, a fact not proven by the evidence. In response to the trial court's question concerning how an illegal strip search would absolve him of liability, petitioner cited *Taylor v. State*, 740 So. 2d 89 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1999), asserting that if the charge is forcefully resisting a legal duty other than arrest the state must prove that the duty was being lawfully executed.

release reoffender and credit for 530 days time served. SR 60-61, 65-67; S 35-36.

Before the Fourth District Court of Appeal petitioner reiterated the argument for acquittal made to the trial court, acknowledging that Courts have eliminated *lawful* execution as an element of resisting an officer with violence where an arrest was the legal duty being performed, but asserting that the principle does not apply where a duty other than arrest is forcefully resisted.<sup>5</sup> The district court rejected petitioner's argument, concluding that when read together sections 776.051<sup>6</sup> and 843.01 preclude the use of force to resist an arrest, notwithstanding the technical illegality of the arrest, and that the prohibition found in section 776.051 is not limited solely to arrests. *Perry v. State*, 846 So. 2d 584, 587 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2003).<sup>7</sup>

Petitioner timely filed notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this

<sup>6</sup> Section 776.051(1) reads:

A person is not justified in the use of force to resist an arrest by a law enforcement officer who is known, or reasonably appears, to be a law enforcement officer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Petitioner also argued, among other things, that the trial court erred by failing to instruct the jury regarding the requirements for a lawful strip search and by instructing the jury that the detention of a defendant constitutes lawful execution of a legal duty. The district court opinion did not address the additional arguments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The court did not decide whether the attempted strip search was lawfully executed. 846 So. 2d at 589 n. 2.

Court, asserting that the districts court's opinion was in express and direct conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal. Jurisdictional briefs were subsequently filed by the parties. By order dated February 21, 2005, this Court accepted jurisdiction, dispensed with oral argument, and set a briefing schedule. This brief now follows.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Deputy Enrique was working as a booking deputy in the central intake division of the Broward County main jail on September 17, 1998. *ST 106-107*. Booking an arrested person into the jail entails a search, for weapons or contraband, fingerprinting, and the taking of a photograph. *ST 108-109*. The classification of the person arrested determines whether a pat-down or strip search is conducted. *ST 129*. An individual arrested for a violent felony involving weapons or a narcotics offense is subject to a strip search. *ST 160*. Deputies do not touch the arrested person while performing a strip search, instead directing them to manipulate various body parts, which includes doing a deep knee squat while spreading their buttocks. *ST 109-110, 127-128*.

Petitioner was brought to the county jail that evening and was being escorted through the booking process by Deputy Enrique. *ST 111*. Because he was arrested for a narcotics offense petitioner was subject to a strip search. *ST 159-161*. Once inside the strip search room petitioner disrobed, but refused to comply with additional orders, calling the deputy a "faggot" and announcing that he would not allow inspection of his anal area. *ST 115*. Fearing for his safety, Deputy Enrique called for assistance. *ST 115-116*. Deputy Anton responded to the search cell and found petitioner, undressed and with his back to the wall, flailing his arms about and yelling in a combative manner. *ST 171-172*. The deputies tried to convince petitioner to calm

down and submit to the search, but he remained non-compliant and loudly refused to do so. *ST 116, 172.* Although told several times to stop flailing his arms, petitioner continued to do so in an aggressive manner while he protested, causing Deputy Enrique to attempt to physically restrain him. *ST 116, 173.* When Deputy Enrique grabbed him by the arm, petitioner dropped to the ground, kicking his feet at the deputies and throwing his hands up in a violent manner. *ST 117, 173.* Petitioner struck Deputy Enrique in the face with a closed fist and kicked Deputy Anton in the legs. *ST 117-118, 175-176.* The deputies eventually managed to restrain petitioner. *ST 118, 177.* 

Deputy Enrique acknowledged that the altercation did not begin until he sought to inspect petitioner's anal region and was initially limited to petitioner's refusal to assume the inspection position. *ST 126, 129.* Petitioner made no attempt to lunge at Deputy Enrique during the initial stages of the confrontation and, in fact, made no contact with him until the deputy grabbed his arm. *ST 123-124.* Deputy Enrique was aware of section 901.221, *Florida Statutes*, which authorizes strip searches, asserting that while he was not present at the jail that night, Sheriff Jenne, through jail policy, authorized the strip search of petitioner in writing. *ST 142-143, 161.* 

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

#### <u>POINT I</u>

Petitioner was convicted of obstructing or opposing a law enforcement officer with violence, in violation of section 843.01, *Florida Statutes* (1997), for forcefully resisting an attempted strip search while being booked into the Broward County jail after arrest. Based upon his view that respondent failed to establish that the attempted strip search was being performed in compliance with Florida law, petitioner moved for a judgment of acquittal on the ground that the officer was not executing a legal duty lawfully, an essential element of resisting a law enforcement officer with violence, when obstructed or opposed. Both the trial court and the district court rejected petitioner's argument, concluding that one is not entitled to resist unlawful police activity with force.

Lawful execution of a legal duty is an essential element of resisting an officer with violence. Although section 776.051(1), *Florida Statutes* (1997) prohibits one from using force to resist an arrest, even one that is technically illegal, the statute does not eliminate the lawful execution of a legal duty element of section 843.01, but instead prevents persons accused of violating section 843.01 from asserting, through argument and instruction, the affirmative defense of self-defense. Even if it can be said that section 776.051(1) eliminates the lawful execution of a legal duty element of a legal duty element of section 843.01, by its express language it does so only in those cases where the legal duty

being executed is an arrest. Petitioner was not charged with violating an arrest with violence and, as a result, respondent was required to prove that the legal duty obstructed or opposed was being lawfully executed. Respondent failed to prove that the attempted strip search was performed in compliance with Florida law. Because respondent failed to prove the lawful execution of a legal duty element of section 843.01 petitioner's motion for a judgment of acquittal should have been granted. Accordingly, this Court should quash the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

#### <u>POINT II</u>

Petitioner was tried before a jury for resisting a law enforcement officer with violence, an essential element of which is that the legal duty obstructed or opposed be executed lawfully. The evidence established that petitioner forcefully resisted the attempt of two detention deputies to perform a strip search upon him while he was being booked into the Broward County jail after arrest. Petitioner's request to incorporate the strip search statute into the charge to the jury was denied and his objection to instructing the jury that the detention of a defendant constitutes the lawful execution of a legal duty overruled. The requested instruction would have assisted the jury in deciding whether the strip search was being performed in compliance with Florida law. The instruction objected to informed the jury that the detention was being

lawfully executed. Taken together, the trial court's rulings deprived petitioner of the right to have the jury determine whether respondent proved each and every element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Accordingly, reversal and remand for a new trial is required.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### <u>POINT I</u>

PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR A JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL TO THE CHARGE OF RESISTING AN OFFICER WITH VIOLENCE SHOULD HAVE BEEN GRANTED WHERE THE EVIDENCE FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT THE LEGAL DUTY FORCEFULLY OBSTRUCTED OR OPPOSED, AN ATTEMPTED STRIP SEARCH, WAS EXECUTED LAWFULLY.

Petitioner was tried before a jury for obstructing or opposing a law enforcement officer in violation of section 843.01, *Florida Statutes* (1997) based upon his forcefully resisting an attempt by two detention deputies to perform a strip search upon him. At the conclusion of respondent's case, and again after he rested without presenting evidence, petitioner unsuccessfully moved for a judgment of acquittal arguing that the attempted strip search was not performed in compliance with Florida law and, as a result, the legal duty the deputies were performing was not being executed *lawfully*, an essential element of the offense, when he struck them. Petitioner was found guilty as charged. Before the Fourth District Court of Appeal petitioner reiterated his argument, again without success.

#### I. INTRODUCTION.

This case involves the construction and application of, and interaction between,

two statutes, sections 776.051(1) and 843.01, *Florida Statutes* (1997).<sup>8</sup> Three recent district court decisions have addressed the issue. Two of those decisions are currently pending before this Court.

#### A. The Statutes

Section 843.01, *Florida Statutes* (1997), prohibits resisting an officer with violence to his or her person and reads in relevant part:

Whoever knowingly and willfully resists, obstructs, or opposes any officer ... in the lawful execution of any legal duty, by offering or doing violence to the person of such officer ... is guilty of a felony....

"The elements of resisting an officer with violence are 1) knowingly 2) resisting,

obstructing or opposing a law enforcement officer 3) in the lawful execution of any

legal duty 4) by offering or doing violence to his person." State v. Henriquez, 485 So.

2d 414, 415 (Fla. 1986). Section 776.051(1), Florida Statutes (1997), which prohibits

the use of force in resisting an arrest, provides:

A person is not justified in the use of force to resist an arrest by a law enforcement officer who is known, or reasonably appears to be a law enforcement officer.

From the time of its enactment 776.051(1) has been uniformly interpreted to eliminate

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> "[J]udicial interpretation of Florida statutes is a purely legal matter and therefore subject to de novo review." *Racetrac Petroleum, Inc. v. Delco Oil, Inc.*, 721 So. 2d 376, 377 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1998).

the *lawful* execution of a legal duty element from section 843.01. See State v. Espinosa, 686 So. 2d 1345, 1347 & n.4 (Fla. 1996).

#### **B.** The Cases.

In Taylor v. State, 740 So. 2d 89 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) the defendant, convicted of battery on a law enforcement officer and resisting an officer with violence based upon his forcefully resisting a police officer who, in the process of investigating a noise complaint, entered his house, in an effort to coax him outside to further the investigation, without consent or probable cause to arrest him, argued that he was entitled to acquittal because the evidence failed to prove that the officer was *lawfully* executing a legal duty, an element of both offenses, when struck. Id. at 89-90. Although recognizing that "[t]he effect of section 776.051(1) in a resisting an arrest case is to eliminate the need for proof that the officer was engaged in the performance of a lawful duty in making the arrest," id. at 91, the First District vacated the convictions and rejected the state's argument that illegality of the entry into the defendant's house did not justify his use of force against the officer stating, "[s]ection 776.051(1) does not apply in this case, however, because the statute is limited by its terms to a situation in which the defendant has used force to 'resist an arrest.' Here, the defendant was not charged with resisting arrest." *Id.* The court concluded:

If the defendant is charged under section 843.01 with the

crime of resisting or opposing an officer in the performance of some other duty, the state must prove that the duty was lawful. Because the defendant in this case was not accused of resisting arrest, the limitation in section 776.051(1) on the right to use force against an officer is inapplicable.

Id.

In Tillman v. State, 807 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002) rev. granted, 835 So. 2d 271 (Fla. 2002) the defendant, convicted of aggravated battery on a law enforcement officer and resisting an officer with violence based upon his forcefully resisting a law enforcement officer who, according to Tillman, illegally entered the screened-in enclosure of a house in which he was a guest, illegally patted him down and illegally detained him after the pat down, argued that he was entitled to acquittal because the evidence failed to prove that the officer was executing a legal duty *lawfully* when struck. *Id.* at 107-108. Relying upon section 776.051(1), previously extended by it to apply to illegal stops, detentions, and even contacts, the Fifth District affirmed the convictions and disagreed with Taylor concluding "that while the state must prove that the alleged victim was a law enforcement officer who was engaged in the lawful execution or performance of a legal duty, the technical illegality of that action does not justify resisting with violence or battering the officer. Id. at 110.

In *Perry v. State*, 846 So. 2d 584 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2003) *rev. granted*, No. SC03-1291 (Fla. Feb. 21, 2005) the defendant, convicted of resisting an officer with violence based upon his forcefully resisting two detention deputies who were attempting to perform a strip search upon him after he was arrested and as part of the process of booking him into the county jail, argued that he was entitled to acquittal because the evidence failed to prove that the attempted strip search was being *lawfully* executed when he forcefully resisted the detention deputies. Although not deciding whether the attempted strip search was performed in a lawful manner, the court affirmed the conviction concluding that "the use of force or violence to resist an officer during a post-arrest strip search is unlawful, even though the officer improperly performs the search." Id. at 588-589. The Fourth District disagreed with Taylor "that the rule prohibiting the use of force against a known police officer is limited to an arrest situation. Rather, courts have extended it to apply to illegal stops, searches, and detentions." Id. at 587-588. Because the petitioner was not merely stopped or temporarily detained, but was already in custody, undergoing post-arrest procedures, the court determined that the prohibition against forcefully resisting or opposing an officer applied. Id. at 588.

#### **II. LAWFUL EXECUTION OF A LEGAL DUTY.**

#### A. Elements of a Crime and Due Process.

The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution prohibit the State of Florida from depriving a

person of life, liberty, or property without due process of law. State v. Robinson, 873 So. 2d 1205, 1212 (Fla. 2004). ""[T]he Due Process Clause protects the accused against conviction except upon proof beyond a reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime with which he is charged."" Beber v. State, 887 So. 2d 1248, 1251 (Fla. 2004)(quoting In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed. 2d 368 (1970)). Article III, Section 1 of the Florida Constitution vests the legislative power in the legislature. "This grant of power embraces both 'the power to enact laws' and the power 'to declare what the law shall be."" B.H. v. State, 645 So. 2d 987, 992 (Fla. 1994)(citation omitted) cert. denied, 515 U.S. 1132, 115 S.Ct. 2559, 132 L.Ed. 2d 812 (1995). The legislature, not the judiciary, is charged with defining the elements of a criminal offense. See McLaughlin v. State, 721 So. 2d 1170, 1172 (Fla. 1998). "[W]here the legislature has defined a crime in specific terms, the courts are without authority to define it differently." State v. Jackson, 526 So. 2d 58, 59 (Fla. 1988); See also Mogavero v. State, 744 So. 2d 1048 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)(instruction defining knowingly to include constructive knowledge, in addition to actual knowledge, improperly enlarged scope of the crime). The language employed by the legislature in defining a criminal offense must be strictly construed and if any definiteness is lacking must be interpreted most favorably to the accused. Perkins v. State, 576 So. 2d 1310, 1312 (Fla. 1991). "Words and meanings beyond

the literal language may not be entertained nor may vagueness become a reason for broadening a penal statute." *Id.* at 1312.

#### **B.** Lawful Execution Defined.

"Lawful" is defined as "[n]ot contrary to law; permitted by law." *Black's Law Dictionary* 892 (7<sup>th</sup> ed. 1999). Florida courts have applied the plain and ordinary meaning of the phrase "in the lawful execution of any legal duty" to mean that the legal duty resisted must have been executed in compliance with the requirements of law. *See State v. Saunders*, 339 So. 2d 641, 642 (Fla. 1976); *Phillips v. State*, 314 So. 2d 619, 620 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1975); *Rosenberg v. State*, 264 So. 2d 68, 69 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1972). As one court has recognized, a strict reading of section 843.01 requires the state to prove that the duty resisted was being executed in a lawful manner. *Tillman*, 807 So. 2d at 108.

# C. Is Lawful Execution of a Legal Duty an Element of Section 843.01?

#### 1. Judicial view.

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