IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC 03-1291 LOWER TRIBUNAL NO. 4D01-2049

## WILLIE PERRY,

Petitioner,

vs.

## STATE OF FLORIDA ,

Respondent.

## RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar Number 656879

MYRA J. FRIED Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No.0879487 1515 North Flagler Drive Suite 900 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (561) 837-5000 Counsel for Respondent

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the Defendant and Respondent was the Prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida. In this brief, the parties shall be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court except that Respondent may also be referred to as the State. In this brief, the following symbols will be used: "R" to denote the record on appeal; "SR" to denote the supplemental record on appeal; "MST" to denote the hearing on the Motion to Suppress; "S" to denote the sentencing hearing conduct on 5-18-01; "SS1" to denote the supplemental transcript of the sentencing hearing conduct on 5-4-01; "SS2" to denote the supplemental transcript of the sentencing hearing conduct on 5-5-01;

"ST" to denote the supplemental transcript of the proceedings held below.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The only relevant facts to a determination of this Court=s discretionary jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution are those set forth in the appellate opinion sought to be reviewed. A copy of the opinion is contained in the appendix to this brief.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Point I: Although this Honorable Court has accepted jurisdiction in this case, Respondent maintains that since there was no express and direct conflict between this case and Taylor v. State, 740 So. 2d 89 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), this Court should not have accepted jurisdiction to consider the case at bar. On the merits, it is Respondent's contention that the trial court correctly denied Petitioner's motion for judgment of acquittal as to the charge of resisting an officer with violence, since there was competent, substantial evidence to support the verdict that the strip search was conducted within the parameters of section 901.211, Florida Statutes. However, even if the strip search did not comply with that statute, the trial court still properly denied the motion for judgment of acquittal, since an officer's allegedly improper performance of his legal duty at the time of a defendant's forcible resistance to the officer is not a defense to a charge of resisting with violence. This Court should affirm.

**Point II**: Respondent contends that the Petitioner failed to properly request the strip search instruction, and thus, did not properly preserve this issue for appellate review. Assuming arguendo that the issue was preserved, the trial court did not commit reversible error by denying the request for a special

instruction and by reading the standard jury instruction on resisting officer with violence. Further, the trial court's reading of the standard jury instruction did not direct the verdict against Petitioner. Alternatively, even if it was error in not giving the additional instruction regarding the strip search, even though that special instruction would have incorrectly given the state of the law as it now stands in Florida, any presumption of prejudice was overcome when the record evidence of Petitioner's guilt was overwhelming. Thus, the alleged error was harmless. This Court should affirm.

### ARGUMENT

### POINT I (RESTATED)

PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL TO THE CHARGE OF RESISTING AN OFFICER WITH VIOLENCE WAS PROPERLY DENIED SINCE THE EVIDENCE ESTABLISHED THAT THE LEGAL DUTY FORCEFULLY OBSTRUCTED OR OPPOSED, I.E., A STRIP SEARCH, WAS EXECUTED LAWFULLY.

Petitioner's position is that he can justifiably resist and batter a law enforcement officer if the officer's interactions with him are later found by a court to be illegal. Respondent disagrees.

Before addressing the merits of Petitioner's argument, Respondent will briefly readdress the issue of jurisdiction. While this Court has accepted jurisdiction in this case, it is still the position of the State that such was done improvidently. In <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So. 2d 1356, 1357-1358 (Fla. 1980), this Court discussed the creation of the district courts of appeal and quoted from <u>Ansin v. Thurston</u>, 101 So. 2d 808, 810 (Fla. 1958):

> It was never intended that the district courts of appeal should be intermediate courts... To fail to recognize that these are courts primarily of final appellate jurisdiction and to allow such courts to become intermediate courts of appeal would result in a condition far more detrimental to the general welfare and the speedy and

efficient administration of justice than that which the system was designed to remedy.

This Court has jurisdiction to review the decision of a district court when that decision "expressly and directly conflicts" with a decision of either this Court or of another district court. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. This Court has repeatedly held that such conflict must be express and direct, that is, "it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986).

In the instant case, the alleged direct conflict is between the case of <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 740 So. 2d 89 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), and <u>Perry v. State</u>, 846 So. 2d 584 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003). The First District Court of Appeal held in <u>Taylor</u> that a defendant could resist with violence the illegal entry by law enforcement into the defendant's house if law enforcement lacked probable cause for an arrest. Of course, those are not the facts of the instant case. In this case, the charges arose from events that occurred while Petitioner was being booked into the Broward County jail following his arrest for possession of cocaine. The evidence at trial established that Petitioner violently resisted efforts by detention deputies to conduct a strip search of him. Given the fact that <u>Taylor</u> can be distinguished, it is the position of the State that there is no direct conflict between

the two cases.

Turning to the merits of this case, Petitioner challenges the trial court's denial of his motion for judgment of acquittal as to the charge of resisting an officer with violence, as the evidence failed to show that the detention of Petitioner was not conducted in a lawful manner because his strip search was not authorized under Florida statute section 901.211, which states in subsection (5) that "[n]o law enforcement officer shall order a strip search within the agency or facility without obtaining the written authorization of the supervising officer on duty." Respondent strongly disagrees.

The standard of review for the denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal is whether the verdict is supported by substantial, competent evidence. <u>See</u>, <u>Crump v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 963, 971 (Fla. 1993)(question of whether evidence fails to exclude any reasonable hypothesis of innocence is for jury to determine, and if there is substantial, competent evidence to support jury verdict, verdict will not be reversed on appeal); <u>Tibbs v. State</u>, 397 So. 2d 1120 (Fla. 1981), <u>aff'd</u>, 457 U.S. 31 (1982)(concern on appeal must be whether, after all conflicts in the evidence and all reasonable inferences therefore have been resolved in favor of the verdict on appeal, there is substantial, competent evidence to support the verdict and

judgment).

The trial court and the appellate court are equally capable of determining whether it is proper to grant a judgment of See, State v. Smyly, 646 So. 2d 238 (Fla. 4th DCA acquittal. 1994). However, this Court, in reviewing the trial court's denial of the motion for judgment of acquittal should be guided by the well settled principle that a defendant, in moving for a judgment of acquittal, admits all facts stated in the evidence adduced and the court draws every conclusion favorable to the state which is fairly and reasonably inferable from that evidence. See, Spinkellink v. State, 313 So. 2d 666, 670 (Fla. 1975), cert denied, 428 U.S. 911 (1976); Lynch v. State, 293 So. 2d 44, 45 (Fla. 1974); T.J.T. v. State, 460 So. 2d 508, 510 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); McConnehead v. State, 515 So. 2d 1046, 1048 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987). A motion for judgment of acquittal should not be granted unless it is apparent that no legally sufficient evidence has been submitted under which a jury could legally find a verdict of guilty. See, Busch v. State, 466 So. 2d 1073, 1079 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984) (emphasis added); Rogers v. State, 660 So. 2d 237 (Fla. 1995)(citing Taylor v. State, 583 So. 2d 323 (Fla.1991)); Lynch, 293 So. 2d 44. Because conflicts in the evidence and the credibility of the witnesses have to be resolved by the jury, the granting of a motion for judgment of

acquittal cannot be based on evidentiary conflict or witness credibility. <u>See</u>, <u>Lynch</u>, 293 So. 2d 44; <u>Hitchcock v. State</u>, 413 So. 2d 741, 745 (Fla. 1982). A judgment should not be reversed if there is competent evidence which is substantial in nature to support the jury's verdict. <u>See</u>, <u>Welty v. State</u>, 402 So. 2d 1159 (Fla. 1981). The testimony of a single witness, even if uncorroborated and contradicted by other State witnesses, is sufficient to sustain a conviction. <u>See</u>, <u>I.R. v. State</u>, 385 So. 2d 686 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980). Any conflicts in the evidence are properly resolved by the jury. <u>See</u>, <u>Jent v. State</u>, 408 So. 2d 1024 (Fla. 1982); <u>Hampton v. State</u>, 549 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989).

When reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction, the appellate court must consider all of the evidence presented at trial, including the evidence it determines was improperly admitted. <u>See</u>, <u>Barton v. State</u>, 704 So. 2d 569 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997); <u>Fluellen v. State</u>, 703 So. 2d 511 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997). Appellate courts may not consider the weight of the evidence as a basis for overturning a criminal conviction, but the sufficiency of the evidence is a proper subject of concern on review. <u>See</u>, <u>Tibbs v. State</u>, 397 So. 2d 20 (Fla. 1981); Smyly, 646 So. 2d 238.

Deputy Enrique was a booking deputy in Broward County. (ST

at 107). His duties in booking were to screen new arrested inmates and introduce them into the correctional system. (ST at 108). The first step is to conduct a search, process them for fingerprints, take photographs and then process them for teletype. (ST at 108). Also, he inquires of their medical history. (ST at 108).

They search for weapons and contraband. (ST at 109). The search is "conducted for the care, custody, control of the inmate" and for the "care, custody and control" of other inmates and staff. (ST at 109). The deputy testified that it was not his decision to perform the strip search but rather it was authorized policy. (ST at 129). He was not required to have verbal authority to strip search Petitioner. (ST at 130). The deputy is aware of Florida Statute Section 901.221 which deals with the strip search of a person and that it provides that no law enforcement officer shall conduct a strip search without obtaining the written authorization of the supervising officer on duty. (ST at 141-42). At bar, the deputy testified that written authorization was given by a supervising officer. (ST at 142). The Sheriff of Broward County gave written authorization. (ST at 142). The Sheriff was not at the jail the night the search was conducted. (ST at 143). The officer answered in the affirmative that he got written authorization from a supervision

officer on duty, the Broward County Sheriff. (ST at 144).

Under Florida Statute section 951.061, the Sheriff is designated as chief correctional officer of the county correctional system. Moreover, the sheriff under Florida Statute section 100.041 is an elected official and remains in that capacity even when not physically present at that jail.

As such, the trial court did not err in denying the motion for judgment of acquittal as there was competent substantial evidence to support the verdict that the search was done within the parameters of section 901.211.

However, even if the strip search did not comply with section 901.211, Florida Statutes, the trial court still properly denied the motion for judgment of acquittal, since an officer's improper performance of his legal duty at the time of a defendant's forcible resistance to the officer is not a defense to a charge of resisting arrest with violence.

Resisting an officer with violence is proscribed by section 776.051(1), Florida Statutes (1997), which states that "A person is not justified in the use of force to resist an arrest by a law enforcement officer who is known, or reasonably appears, to be a law enforcement officer."

In Lowery v. State, 356 So. 2d 1325, 1326 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978), the Fourth District Court of Appeal held that the use of

force to resist an arrest is unlawful, notwithstanding the technical illegality of the arrest. The Fourth District reached that ruling after determining that section 843.01 (resisting and obstructing with violence) must be read together with section 776.051.

Petitioner argues that section 776.051 does not apply when an officer is engaged in the unlawful performance of some other duty, such as a detention. Here, Petitioner was not charged with resisting arrest but with resisting detention at the county jail. Thus, Petitioner argues that he was free to use force or violence if the detention, i.e., the strip search, was not properly performed.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal disagreed with Petitioner's argument:

We disagree with appellant's argument that the rule prohibiting the use of force against a known police officer is limited to an arrest situation. Rather, courts have extended it to apply to illegal stops, searches, and detentions. See Harris v. 801 So. 2d 321 (Fla. 4th DCA State, 2001) (holding that an illegal stop does not automatically preclude a conviction for battery on a law enforcement officer); Dominique v. State, 590 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991)(holding that an illegal investigative stop was not a defense to battery of a known police officer engaged in lawful performance of his duties); Tillman v. State, 807 So. 2d 106, 109 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002)(holding that defendant was not justified in using violence to resist police

officers even if the officers' entry into the screened enclosure of his residence and subsequent pat-down and detention were illegal); State v. Roux, 702 So. 2d 240 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997) (holding than an illegal detention does not authorize a defendant to commit a battery upon a law enforcement officer); Miller v. State, 636 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) (discussing that engaging in scuffle with officer during improper detention constitutes battery on law enforcement officer and can give rise to valid arrest and conviction for resisting arrest with violence); Bradford v. State, 2d 911 1st 567 So. (Fla. DCA 1990)(discussing that although officer was not engaged in lawful performance of his duties when he initially searched defendant, defendant's intentional striking of officer during the encounter constituted battery or resisting arrest with violence). But cf. Taylor v. State, 740 So. 2d 89 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) (holding that if a defendant is charged under section 843.01 with resisting or opposing an officer with violence in the performance of some duty - other than an arrest - the state must prove that the officer was engaged in a lawful duty).

Perry v. State, 846 So. 2d 584, 587-588 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003).

Further, in <u>Dominique v. State</u>, 590 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), the Fourth District reasoned that if the use of force is not permitted in resisting an unlawful arrest, "[i]t logically follows that the use of force would be even less acceptable when a law enforcement officer has merely stopped an individual, since a stop involves less of an invasion of an individual's privacy than does an arrest." Dominique v. State, 590 So. 2d at 1061 n.1.

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